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California Firefighter Cancer Prevention and Research Program  

 Frequently Asked Questions 
Updated 2/22/2024 

Letter of Intent due date – February 29, 2024, 12 noon Pacific Time 
Application due date – June 13, 2024, 12 noon Pacific Time 

See RFP for additional instructions. 
 

General 
How many applications will be funded? 

There is not a pre-determined number of awards overall or in each category. This Request for 
Proposals (RFP) invites applications from teams of CA-based firefighters and UC academics for 
research awards in two categories: California Firefighter Cancer Prevention Pilot Grants and 
California Firefighter Cancer Prevention Full Grants. There is approximately $5.9 million 
available for all awards (including direct and indirect costs). The total number of awards in each 
category will depend on the results of the application, review, and award selection process.  

Technical Assistance 
What is the best way to find a Co-PI for possible research programs, if we do not already 
have one identified?  

Fire service organizations and UCs are eligible for technical support in finding a project partner, 
and with other aspects of the application. To request support applicants can send an email to 
the California Firefighter Cancer Prevention and Research Program at firefighter-
cancer@ucop.edu. The program will review technical assistance requests and schedule one-on-
one technical assistance consultation calls with applicant teams. Applicants can also complete 
and submit an LOI with one Co-PI named, and in the space where the second Co-PI would be 
named in the LOI, note that they are requesting technical support with finding a partner. 

Letter of Intent Submission 
Does the Letter of Intent (LOI) submission require institutional Sponsored Projects and 
Contracts and Grants review and approval? 

The LOI does not require an authorized institutional representative signature or the submission 
of a detailed budget. However, it is the applicant’s responsibility to ensure the submission to that 
office meets local submission timelines in advance of the SmartSimple deadline. Invited 
applications are required to be submitted through the applicant institution’s Sponsored Projects 
Office or Contracts & Grants office. 

How will the LOI submission be reviewed?  

LOI submissions will be reviewed for eligibility, completeness, and compliance with program 
requirements. The LOI is also an opportunity for applicants to request technical assistance to 
help find an appropriate partner Co-PI. 

https://rgpogrants.ucop.edu/files/1614305/f481128/CPPR_Firefighters_Initiative_RFP_2024.pdf
mailto:firefighter-cancer@ucop.edu
mailto:firefighter-cancer@ucop.edu
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I am planning to be a Co-PI on an application, and my partner Co-PI is submitting the LOI. 
How do I get access to the proposal in SmartSimple? 

At the LOI stage, only the initiating/applicant Co-PI will have access to the application in 
SmartSimple. Access for other Co-PIs will be granted at the invited application stage. 

How many Co-PIs are required for the LOI submission? 

The LOI submission requires contact information for at least one Co-Principal Investigator. The 
LOI will ideally include two Co-PIs, one from a Fire Service organization, and one from the 
University of California. However, an LOI can be submitted with just one Co-PI for those who 
have not found a partner Co-PI and would like technical assistance in finding one. When a Co-
PI requests technical assistance with finding a partner Co-PI at the LOI stage, an additional Co-
PI will be named at the invited application stage. 

Can additional Co-PIs be added at the invited proposal stage?  

Yes, if the LOI was submitted with only one Co-PI, another Co-PI will be required for the invited 
proposal. Additional Co-PIs can also be added. In addition, the invited application requires 
contact information and effort for Key Personnel and Other Significant Contributors on your 
project including the Co-Principal Investigator, Co-Investigators, consultant(s), and support 
personnel.  

Can we make changes to our application after our LOI is approved? 

Yes, changes between the submitted LOI and the invited application are permitted as long as 
award eligibility requirements continue to be met.   

Budget  
Are there indirect costs associated with these grants? 

UC campuses receive a maximum institutional F&A of 35% MTDC (25% for off-campus 
projects). All other institutions are eligible for indirect costs of up to 25% MTDC or the rate 
established for the institution through a U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 
negotiated indirect cost rate agreement (or another similarly established rate), whichever is 
higher. 

Are there budget distribution requirements between academic institutions and fire 
service institutions?  

The proposed costs, including distribution across applicant institutions, will need to be informed 
by input from both PIs and defined by the project scope and activities. Budgets should be 
equitable and reflect the work that is taking place at each organization by the project Co-PIs and 
the study team. Each institution that is a partner in the project must complete a budget 
accompanied by line-item budget justifications in relation to the activities. Budgets should reflect 
the efficient use of resources. Additionally, a 10% minimum effort is required for each Co-PI.    
Budgets will be carefully evaluated for appropriateness to the work proposed. 

 

 



3 
 

Applicant and Project Eligibility  
What UC locations are eligible to apply? 

Eligible UC system locations include the 10 UC campuses, UC academic medical centers, UC-
affiliated national laboratories, and UC Agriculture and Natural Resources. Please inquire with 
the program if you have any questions about eligibility. 

Can non-UC investigators be involved in the study team?  

As a program requirement, a project team must be led by at least one University of California 
(UC) academic Co-Principal Investigator and at least one California-based Fire Service Co-
Principal Investigator. Individuals from other California-based universities or other organizations 
in California are eligible to be Co-Investigators on the project.  

Does the UC Co-PI have to be a tenure-track faculty member?  

All applicants must have Principal Investigator status at their organizational affiliation. Please 
confirm with your UC location whether you have Principal Investigator status. 

University of California applicants: Per RPAC Contracts & Grants Manual Chapter 1-530, the 
following individuals automatically qualify to serve as Principal Investigator for a research, 
training or public service project: (a) Members of the Academic Senate, including emeriti; (b) 
Appointees in the Agronomist series, including emeriti; and (c) Appointees at 50 percent or more 
of full time in the Adjunct Professor series; Health Sciences Clinical Professor series; 
Professional Research series; and/or Specialists in Cooperative Extension series. All other 
University employees seeking to serve as a Principal Investigator must obtain approval for an 
exceptional PI status by the applicant institution's Contracts and Grants or Sponsored Programs 
office. 

Can the research project scope extend beyond California?  

No. Research activities must take place in California, costs are expected to be incurred in 
California, and the research population must be from CA. Further, Co-PIs and their 
organizations must be in CA. Research must generate measurable, tangible outcomes with 
potential to contribute to the well-being of California’s firefighters. In very limited instances, the 
broader project team may include institutions from outside of California, but only if well justified. 
Before including non-CA organizations as part of the invited application, please email the 
California Firefighter Cancer Prevention and Research Program at firefighter-cancer@ucop.edu 
to discuss. 

Do the funding priorities include work with animal models?  

All proposals must address the priority area of engaging in community-based participatory 
research model of research. Thus, academic applicant organizations must co-develop 
applications in collaboration with fire service partners. Animal studies that are studying materials 
or routes of exposure that directly relate to firefighter cancer can be responsive to the RFP. 
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Can the project focus on social factors (e.g., firefighters’ culture)? 

Yes, projects that focus on social factors can be responsive to the priorities of the program. The 
program supports research to prevent and reduce cancer among California firefighters by 
examining the hallmarks of cancer and key characteristics of carcinogens related to firefighters’ 
occupational exposures, characterizing biomarkers of cancer susceptibility or risk in firefighters, 
understanding carcinogenic exposures among firefighters, and informing intervention strategies 
to lower risks of developing cancer in firefighters. Academic applicant organizations must co-
develop applications in collaboration with fire service partners. This may include social factors 
and determinants relevant to cancer in firefighters that are of importance to the Fire Service 
partner(s). 

Considering that firefighters are exposed to a complex mixture of carcinogens, does the 
program require projects to assess different classes of carcinogens? Are projects 
expected to focus on one class of carcinogen?  

The program seeks to better understand the nature of occupational exposures that lead to 
cancer in firefighters. Both the study of a single class of carcinogen and/or a mixture of 
carcinogens can be responsive to the RFP. 

Are projects that collect samples from firefighters or have them take surveys eligible? 

Yes, human subjects research is eligible.  

Is an IRB from the UC automatically the IRB of record for the project?  

The partners will need to discuss potential options for IRB oversight. All projects with human 
participants research and/or animal research are required to have their protocol reviewed and 
approved by an IRB. The UC IRB is eligible to be the IRB of record. However, it should not be 
assumed that the UC IRB will automatically be the IRB of record. With two Co-PIs, and two 
organizations, an instance may arise where there are two options for an IRB of record. In this 
instance, the Co-PIs will need to discuss and decide whether there is one IRB of record (and 
which one it is) or whether they will send the proposal through both of the IRBs. More detailed 
instructions are provided to funded partnered awards in the pre-funding stage.   

Does the IRB protocol need to be in place when the application is submitted? 

IRB review and approval is not required at the application stage. However, if the project is 
funded, IRB approval is required before beginning any human participants and/or animal work. 

Peer Review  
For the nomination of external peer reviewers, how do you plan to avoid biased review / 
conflicts of interest?  

The Research Grants Program Office (RGPO) in the UC Office of Research & Innovation will 
manage the competitive peer review, scoring, and ranking of proposals based on the criteria 
and requirements outlined in this RFP and the application instructions. The LOI offers the 
opportunity for applicants to nominate potential academic and fire service peer reviewers from 
outside California, but RGPO will select the reviewer, carefully reviewing for potential conflicts of 
interest in the process. To avoid conflicts of interest during the peer-review process, staff 
examine personnel involved in applications and cross-check the list of potential reviewers to 
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avoid inviting reviewers with COIs. Further, all reviewers are required to declare conflicts of 
interest. All applications will be evaluated by a peer-review committee comprised of individuals 
from outside of California. The committee will be composed of academics from relevant 
disciplines, including those who are experts in community-based or participatory research, and 
fire service representatives. For additional information, please review the RGPO Conflict of 
Interest and Professional Activities Policy. 

https://www.ucop.edu/research-grants-program/_files/documents/srp_forms/rgpo_coi_policy.pdf
https://www.ucop.edu/research-grants-program/_files/documents/srp_forms/rgpo_coi_policy.pdf

